No. 46359-8-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL JOE SEVERSON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICK WOYNAROWSKI Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

The one-two punch of a brazen prosecutor and inept defense counsel was too much to bear. Appellant Michael Severson did not stand a chance. The trial where he was wrongly convicted of four counts of child molestation allegedly committed against complainants K.C.-J. and her sister J.N.K. was riddled with error and violated Severson's rights to counsel and due process of law.

Defense counsel did not protect the appellant against the prosecutor's misconduct. Defense counsel failed to enforce even the most basic of evidentiary norms. Even if not every error requires reversal on its own, there is no doubt that the cumulative weight of the misconduct and ineffective assistance of counsel calls the jury's verdict into question.

A new, fair trial is needed.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Errors committed by the court

1. The trial court erred in declaring child K.C.-J. competent to testify.

2. The trial court erred in finding K.C.-J.'s out-of-court hearsay statements – one made to her mother, another to a neighbor, and the last to a child interviewer – all to be admissible child hearsay.

3. Trial court findings regarding the child hearsay <u>Ryan</u> factors and competency are not supported by substantial evidence.

4. Over objection, the trial court improperly allowed the prosecutor to denigrate Severson's assertion of innocence by letting the lead detective testify that, in his experience, all child sexual abuse suspects deny what is alleged against them.

Prosecutorial misconduct

5. The prosecutor committed misconduct by improperly presenting witness Bill Campbell's feelings and opinions that Severson's behavior toward the complainants was "inappropriate," "concerning," and "creepy."

6. The prosecutor committed misconduct by asking witness Mike Thomas to state his opinion that Severson had been "grooming" the complainants, in violation of a pretrial ruling.

7. The prosecutor committed misconduct in eliciting Thomas' opinion that Severson had abused the children.

8. The prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument and this violated Severson's constitutional right to a fair trial.

9. The cumulative effect of multiple instances of prosecutorial misconduct prejudiced Severson and deprived him of his right to a fair trial.

Ineffective assistance of counsel

10. Defense counsel's concession that six-year-old K.C.-J. was competent deprived Severson of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. Defense counsel's failure to contest the admissibility of K.C.-J.'s alleged child hearsay statements deprived Severson of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

12. Defense counsel's failure to seek exclusion of allegations that Severson had caused complainant K.C.-J. physical harm separate from the charged offenses deprived him of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

13. Defense counsel's failure to limit the child interviewer's recitation of what twelve-year-old complainant J.N.K. had said to her from being admitted as substantive evidence deprived Severson of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

14. Defense counsel's failure to object to Campbell giving his opinion of Severson's guilt on direct examination, and request that the witness restate this opinion on cross-examination, deprived Severson of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

15. Defense counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor asking Thomas to state his opinion that Severson had been "grooming" the complainants, in violation of a pretrial ruling, deprived Severson of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

16. Defense counsel's failure to object to Thomas' opinion that Severson abused the complainants deprived him of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. 17. Defense counsel's failure to object to complainants' mother's testimony that Thomas told her he thought Severson "was grooming [her] children" deprived Severson of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

18. Defense counsel's failure to object to the mother discussing other unidentified declarants' contempt toward Severson deprived him of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

19. Defense counsel's failure to object to the mother's speculating that Severson had done more to K.C.-J. than what the child said, deprived him of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

20. Defense counsel's erroneous concession that the mother's two prior crimes of dishonesty could not be used to impeach her credibility under ER 609, and failure to cross-examine the witness about her convictions, deprived Severson of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

21. Defense counsel elicited the lead detective's opinion of Severson's guilt and this deprived him of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

22. Defense counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's misconduct in closing argument deprived Severson of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

23. The cumulative effect of defense counsel's multiple failures deprived Severson of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

Cumulative error

24. Cumulative error deprived Severson of his right to a fair trial.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Errors committed by the court

1. Those who lack an understanding of the obligation to speak the truth on the witness stand, or who appear incapable of receiving just impressions of the facts, respecting which they are examined, or of relating them truly, are not competent to testify. In K.C.-J.'s mind, two mutually exclusive accounts – regarding what Severson supposedly did to her – simultaneously stood for the "truth." The child's descriptions of when, where, and how she was allegedly offended against, were wildly inconsistent, bringing her ability to both form and recall memory, into serious question. Did the trial court commit reversible error in finding the six-year-old child to testify?

2. The child hearsay statute allows for the admission of an out-ofcourt statement made by a child younger than ten, "describing any act [or attempted act] of sexual contact performed with or on the child by another," if the court finds "that the time, content, and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient indicia of reliability," and the child

testifies at the proceedings. RCW 9A.44.120. The three hearsay statements so offered by the State were obtained under suspect conditions, one of them did not even describe sexual contact, attempted or otherwise, and the child's varying stories cut against any inference of reliability. Did the trial court commit reversible error in admitting K.C.-J.'s statements as evidence for the jury's consideration?

3. Over defense objection, and in the guise of explaining a supposed "interrogation technique," the prosecutor had the lead detective portray Severson as a typical child molester, all because he asserted his innocence and would not confess. Did the trial court commit reversible error in allowing this profile evidence in?

Prosecutorial misconduct

4. The trial court ruled that testimony opining as to the credibility of the accusations would be excluded and the prosecutor represented she would follow the ruling: "I never elicit opinion testimony as to the credibility of a witness." RP 29. However, the prosecutor then had witness "Bill" Campbell testify to his opinion that Severson's interactions with the complainants were "inappropriate" and "creepy," and that the witness cut off ties with Severson after the allegations of sexual abuse came out. The prosecutor put on testimony from witness "Mike" Thomas that he believed Severson had abused the complainants. Was it flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct for the prosecutor to present these implied opinions on guilt in

violation of the pretrial ruling? Did the ensuing prejudice deprive Severson of his constitutional right to a fair trial?

5. The trial court also ruled that the term "grooming" was highly prejudicial and that the state could not present anyone's opinion that Severson had been "grooming" the children, except with a limiting instruction, and only to explain why the mother questioned her daughters. Still, the prosecutor had Thomas express this provocative opinion of guilt. Did the deliberate violation of the motion in limine constitute flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct that prejudiced Severson's right to a fair trial?

6. In closing, the prosecutor argued Severson committed more crimes than what he had been charged with. The prosecutor argued that the jurors should consider Campbell's and Thomas' opinions – including the supposed "grooming" suspicions – as substantive evidence of Severson's guilt. Was this argument flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct? Did it deprive Severson of his constitutional right to a fair trial?

7. Did the cumulative effect of this misconduct deprive Mr. Severson of his constitutional right to a fair trial?

Ineffective assistance of counsel

8. The accused's Sixth Amendment right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance of counsel. K.C.-J. testified at the child hearsay hearing. The videotape of her earlier prosecution interview was also admitted. Defense counsel did not ask K.C.-J. a single question, but

opined she was competent. Had the child been declared incompetent, her uncorroborated out-of-court claims about Severson would have been inadmissible. RCW 9A.44.120(2)(b). Where the record on the whole shows K.C.-J. was not competent, did defense counsel's concession deprive Severson of his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel?

9. Defense counsel did not contest the admissibility of child hearsay evidence, even though none of the statements was reliable, and one was plainly outside what is covered under RCW 9A.44.120. Did defense counsel's failure to keep out otherwise inadmissible hearsay deprive Severson of his right to effective assistance of counsel?

10. ER 404(b) bars admission of evidence for the purpose of proving a defendant's character and showing that he acted in conformity with it. If evidence of a prior bad act is admitted under an exception to this general rule of exclusion, the defendant is entitled to a limiting instruction. In the prosecution's videotaped interview with K.C.-J., admitted in full for substantive purposes, the child alleged Severson caused her physical harm different from the charged sexual crimes. Defense counsel never made any motion to exclude prior bad acts of the accused. Did this failure deprive Severson of his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel?

11. The prosecutor used the child interviewer to impeach twelve-yearold J.N.K. However, defense counsel did not request a limiting instruction

that would have cautioned the jury that the inconsistent statements were only relevant to consideration of J.N.K.'s credibility. Part of the impeachment included an out-of-court claim by J.N.K. that she witnessed Severson abuse her younger sister. Where the testimony should not have been admitted for substantive purposes, did defense counsel's failure to object, and failure to request a limiting instruction, deprive Severson of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel?

12. Defense counsel did not object to the prosecutor eliciting Campbell's implied opinion of Severson's guilt. Inexplicably, on crossexamination, defense counsel asked Campbell to restate his confidence in his subjective interpretation of Severson's interactions with K.C.-J. and J.N.K. Defense counsel also did not object when the prosecutor had Thomas state he believed that the appellant had abused the two complainants. Defense counsel did not object when the mother talked about unidentified community members' disdain toward Severson, or when she speculated that, in her opinion, Severson had subjected K.C.-J. to more abuse than the child mentioned. Did these defense counsel failures deprive Severson of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel?

13. Pretrial, defense counsel won a motion to keep out Thomas' opinion that Severson had been "grooming" the complainants. The trial court specified that if there was going to be mention about Thomas telling

the mother what he thought, a limiting instruction would be given to bar the jury from consideration of the opinion for a substantive purpose. When the mother testified, defense counsel did not object, or ask for a limiting instruction, and Thomas' "grooming" opinion came in as substantive evidence. Later, when Thomas testified, defense counsel again sat on his hands, silent, and what should have been excluded, came in as substantive evidence for a second time. Did defense counsel's failures to object and failures to enforce a favorable pretrial ruling deprive Severson of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel?

14. Evidence of prior convictions may be admissible for the purpose of attacking the credibility of any witness under ER 609. Evidence of a prior crime of dishonesty is automatically admissible under the rule. The mother, Shanna Carter, had prior gross misdemeanor convictions for theft and falsification of insurance, but defense counsel agreed with the prosecutor's suggestion that the convictions were unusable under ER 609 "since it's not punishable by greater than a year in jail." RP 18-19. Did defense counsel's erroneous concession and resulting failure to impeach Carter, a critical prosecution witness, deprive Severson of his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel?

15. Severson's counsel asked the lead detective to share with the jury his opinion that K.C.-J. and J.N.K. had been sexually molested and that Severson had done it. In a case where the stated defense theory was that

no sexual abuse ever occurred, not that the police had rushed to identify the wrong suspect, was Severson deprived of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel, and due process right to a fair trial, by this incomprehensible blunder?

16. Defense counsel did not object (1) when the prosecutor argued that Severson had committed uncharged crimes, (2) when the prosecutor told the jurors to convict because other witnesses believed Severson to be guilty, or even (3) when the prosecutor's argument directly violated a pretrial ruling. Did defense counsel's failure to object deprive Severson of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel?

17. Did the cumulative effect of these failures of defense counsel deprive Severson of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel?

Cumulative error

18. Did the overall cumulative effect of all these errors deprive Severson of his Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael Severson is a 59-year-old veteran of the United States Army. RP 501. He met the complainants' mother, Shanna Carter, through a mutual acquaintance. RP 75-76. At the time, he was living in a friend's garage; his disability income check was not enough for him to have a place of his own. RP 503, 573. Carter, a single mother working a graveyard shift, needed help caring for her children. RP 504, 507. Initially, Severson would sleep over at the apartment while Carter went to work. When Carter asked Severson to move in, he agreed. RP 506.

Carter, her daughters, and Severson lived like a family for about two years. RP 77. He was like a surrogate grandfather; the girls called him "Mikey." RP 379, 516-517. He played with J.N.K. and K.C.-J., he cooked for them, and he watched TV with them. RP 510, 555-56. Combining incomes allowed them to move from a one-bedroom apartment to a twobedroom, where Carter would no longer have to share a room with her daughters. RP 517. In both apartments, Severson slept on a living-room couch. RP 384, 508.

Severson gave Carter full access to his debit card. RP 519. She was to pay the bills and rent. RP 78, 519, 574. Carter had been addicted to narcotics. RP 15-17, 399. When the bills went unpaid, and the electricity was shut off, Severson saw a pattern emerging. He had concerns that Carter was abusing opioids, including her methadone. RP 519-520, 527.

The summer of 2012 brought stress and change into the household. Carter lost her job. RP 518. She supposedly quit methadone "cold turkey." RP 392, 524-26. She invited another person, "Bill" Campbell, to live in the apartment. RP 522. Campbell did not pay to live there; he was unemployed. RP 523, 583. Carter had also taken a boyfriend, Campbell's friend "Ant," who would stay over too. RP 388, 440, 524.

On September 3, 2012, Severson confronted Carter over the unpaid bills. RP 523, 527, 534-35.¹ The two fought and Severson left. RP 535.

When Severson returned to the apartment complex, police officers told him that he had been accused of inappropriate touching. RP 534. He just "about passed out." RP 536. After the fight over the money, when he was out of the apartment, Carter reported to the police that she had talked to her daughters K.C.-J. and J.N.K., and that they both said that Severson had done things that made them "uncomfortable." RP 408. Carter alleged the sisters said Severson had been touching their privates. Just like that, Severson was out of the apartment.

Severson called the police and came in for an interview. RP 536-37. Two detectives questioned him, for three hours, without a break. RP 537, 678. The interview was recorded. Severson denied any sexually motivated touching of the girls. RP 551. Hours into the questioning, and

¹ Carter confirmed the fight, but claimed not to recall what it was about. RP 407, 420.

following repeated invitations from the police to speculate whether he had ever had any, in their words, "*oh shit*," moments with the girls, Severson said he may have had some accidental over-the-clothes contact with their genital areas. RP 589-90. (He had wrestled with the kids, they had tickled each other, and he also guessed that he may have put his hand down on them when trying to get up off the sofa, but lost his balance because of a bad knee. RP 539-40, 611, 665-66.) Detective Eggleston testified that the insistence on getting a suspect to talk about possible accidental, noncriminal, touching is a deliberate interrogation technique designed to generate an "admission," of sorts. RP 663-66.

After the interview, the police invited Severson to submit to a Computer Voice Stress Analysis (CVSA) examination, a type of a lie detector test. Severson agreed, took the test, and the police let him go.² Charges were not filed until nine months later. CP 1-3.

Pretrial, the State moved to admit, as substantive evidence, three different out-of-court statements made by K.C.-J. CP 7-15. The State argued that each satisfied RCW 9A.44.120 and the <u>Ryan</u> factors. Defense counsel did not file any response. Six-year-old K.C.-J. testified at the child hearsay hearing. At the outset, the child said no one had ever talked with

 $^{^2}$ The available record does not explicitly state that Severson "passed" this polygraph, but the State did not want to jury to know the results. RP 19-20.

her about the difference between a truth and a lie. RP 54.³ She said it would be "the truth" for the prosecutor to say Mickey Mouse brought her to court. The prosecutor had to ask her follow-up questions to get her to correct this response. RP 56.

The child said she did not know why she was in court. RP 63. When asked if "anything bad ever happened" to her body, she answered no. RP 63. She said she "never" told anyone about bad things that happened to her body. RP 63. When asked if she ever told anyone specifically about Severson "doing bad things" to her body, she said "I never told anybody that." RP 63. She remembered her mother sitting her down and asking "if anything bad ever happened with Mikey." RP 64. She did not remember what she told her mom. RP 65. Defense counsel did not object when the prosecutor led the child: "Did you ever tell your mom that Mikey touched your no-no?" RP 65.

When the child said yes, the prosecutor tried to get her to reconcile her inconsistent testimony:

- Q: "So when I asked you if anything bad ever happened to your body and you said no, were you telling the truth?"
- A: "I didn't remember that part."

RP 65.

³ This was not a true statement. Her mother had talked to her about the difference between a truth and a lie, and so had the child interviewer. RP 87, Exhibit 1.

The prosecutor then followed-up with "Do you like to think about this?" RP 65. K.C.-J. answered "Yes." RP 65. Defense counsel did not ask K.C.-J. any questions. RP 71.

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