NO. 46359-8-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

MICHAEL JOE SEVERSON, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable John Hickman

No. 13-1-02077-9

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
BRENT J. HYER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 33338

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ANY ERRORS THAT REQUIRE REVERSAL.

a. Defendant did not object to the trial court's determination that K.C.-J. was competent. Even if he had, the court's determination was correct and not an abuse of discretion.

i. **Defendant waived his objection to K.C.-J.'s competency by failing to object at trial.**

An appellate court generally will not consider a claimed error that was not raised in the trial court. *See* RAP 2.5(a). One exception to this rule is when the claimed error is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3). To meet RAP 2.5(a) and raise an

error for the first time on appeal, an appellant must demonstrate (1) the error is manifest, and (2) the error is truly of constitutional dimension. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). “‘Manifest’ in RAP 2.5(a)(3) requires a showing of actual prejudice.” *Id.* at 935. The purpose of this rule is to allow the trial court the opportunity to consider all issues and arguments and correct any errors, in order that unnecessary appeals will be avoided. *Smith v. Shannon*, 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983).

A party objecting to the admission of evidence must make a timely and specific objection in the trial court. ER 103; *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 421, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). Failure to object precludes raising the issue on appeal. *Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d at 421. The court has "steadfastly adhered to the rule that a litigant cannot remain silent as to claimed error during trial and later, for the first time, urge objections thereto on appeal." *Bellevue Sch. Dist. 405 v. Lee*, 70 Wn.2d 947, 950, 425 P.2d 902 (1967). A defendant may only appeal a non-constitutional issue on the same grounds that he or she objected on below. *State v. Stevens*, 58 Wn. App. 478, 485-6, 794 P.2d 38 (1990); *State v. Thetford*, 109 Wn.2d 392, 397, 745 P.2d 496 (1987); *State v. Hettich*, 70 Wn. App. 586, 592, 854 P.2d 1112 (1993). If the specific basis for the objection at

trial is not the basis the defendant argues at the appellate level, then the defendant has lost their opportunity for review. *Guloy* at 422.

In *State v. Cooley*, 48 Wn. App. 286, 738 P.2d 705 (1987), the Court determined that no manifest error occurred with regard to the finding of child competency because defendant was able to cross examine child witness and child interviewer. *Cooley* at 290-291.

Here, the trial court held a pretrial hearing regarding K.C.-J.'s out of court statements. K.C.-J. testified at this hearing. While defense counsel brought up competency, he did not contest K.C.-J's competency or object to the trial court's ruling that she was competent. Defense counsel believed that she was competent:

I think the issue would be competency of [K.C.-J.], and I don't have any specific objections to the finding that she is competent. I think she is certainly able to relate her memory and facts and answer questions, so I believe she is competent.

II RP 123. K. J.-C. also testified at trial. The Court should decline to hear this issue as defendant failed to object to K.C.-J.'s competency at trial and there is no manifest error regarding a constitutional right.

- ii. **Even if this issue were not waived, the trial court properly found K.C.-J. competent to testify and properly admitted her statements to others as child hearsay.**

“[A]ll witnesses—children and adults alike—are presumed competent until proved otherwise by a preponderance of evidence.” *State v. Brousseau*, 172 Wn.2d 331, 341, 259 P.3d 209 (2011) (citing *State v. S.J.W.*, 170 Wn.2d 92, 100, 239 P.3d 568 (2010)); ER 601 (“[e]very person is competent to be a witness except as otherwise provided by statute or by court rule.”).

However, RCW 5.60.050 provides

The following persons shall not be competent to testify:
(1) Those who are of unsound mind, or intoxicated at the time of their production for examination, and
(2) Those who appear incapable of receiving just impressions of the fact, respecting which they are examined, or of relating them truly.

“A party challenging the competency of a child witness has the burden of rebutting that presumption [of competence] with evidence indicating that the child is of unsound mind, intoxicated at the time of his production for examination, incapable of receiving just impressions of the facts, or incapable of relating facts truly.” *S.J.W.*, 170 Wn.2d at 102. Hence, “a witness is not required to testify at a pretrial competency hearing absent a threshold showing of incompetency.” *Brousseau*, 172 Wn.2d at 344-45.

In *State v. Allen*, 70 Wn.2d 690, 424 P.2d 1021 (1967), the Washington State Supreme Court set out a five-part test for determining whether a child witness is competent to testify in a criminal trial:

[t]he true test of the competency of a young child as a witness consists of the following: (1) an understanding of the obligation to speak the truth on the witness stand; (2) the mental capacity at the time of the occurrence concerning which he is to testify, to receive an accurate impression of it; (3) a memory sufficient to retain an independent recollection of the occurrence; (4) the capacity to express in words his memory of the occurrence; and (5) the capacity to understand simple questions about it.

Allen, 70 Wn.2d at 692. However, the mere “recitation of the *Allen* factors, without more, d[oes] not constitute a sufficient offer of incompetency.” *Brousseau*, 172 Wn.2d at 345.

The responsibility for determining a witness' competency rests with the trial court, who “saw the witness, noticed her manner and considered her capacity and intelligence.” *State v. Avila*, 78 Wn. App. 731, 735, 899 P.2d 11, 14 (1995)(quoting *State v. Johnson*, 28 Wn. App. 459, 461, 624 P.2d 213 (1981)). The competency of a youthful witness is not easily reflected in a written record. *State v. Sardinia*, 42 Wn. App. 533, 537, 713 P.2d 122 (1986). The court’s decision on competency will be reversed only upon a showing of a manifest abuse of discretion¹.

¹ The defendant indicates that the standard of review is de novo if the competency determination was made on documentary evidence rather than personal observation of the witness. *Jenkins v. Snohomish Cnty. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1*, 105 Wn.2d 99, 102-103, 713 P.2d 79 (1986). BOA 19. In *Jenkins*, the child witness was unavailable for testimony and the competency determination was only based on a deposition. As K.J.C. testified before the trial court, *Jenkins* is inapplicable to the case as bar.

Allen, 70 Wn.2d at 692. That means that no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. *State v. Huelett*, 92 Wn.2d 967, 603 P.2d 1258 (1979). “[T]he bar to competency is low.” *Brousseau*, 172 Wn.2d at 347.

If required, the competency hearing should be held outside the presence of the jury. *State v. Clark*, 53 Wn. App. 120, 765 P.2d 916 (1988). Pursuant to ER 104(a) and ER 1101(c)(3), the evidence rules do not apply. There is “no reversible error where a child's testimony at trial showed that the child was competent, notwithstanding any failure to assess competency beforehand.” *Brousseau*, 172 Wn.2d at 350.

The competency determination may be made by asking the child general questions rather than questions regarding the specific offense. *State v. Prszybylski*, 48 Wn. App. 661, 665, 739 P.2d 1203 (1987). It is better to test against objective facts known to the court, rather than disputed facts and events in the case itself. *Id.* at 665. As long as the witness demonstrates the ability to accurately relate events that occurred at least contemporaneously with the incidents at issue, the court may infer that the witness is likewise competent to testify regarding those incidents as well. *Id.*

The fact that there may be inconsistencies and contradictions in a child's testimony goes only to the weight of a child's testimony, not to its admissibility. *State v. Woodward*, 32 Wn. App. 204, 208, 646 P.2d 135

(1982). The child may still be found competent even where there are inconsistencies. *State v. Stange*, 53 Wn. App. 638, 769 P.2d 873 (1989); *State v. McKinney*, 50 Wn. App. 56, 747 P.2d 1113 (1987). Finally, a child's reluctance to testify about sexual abuse does not undermine the finding of competency. *State v. Carlson*, 61 Wn. App. 865, 875, 812 P.2d 536 (1991), *review denied*, 120 Wn.2d 1022, 844 P.2d 1017 (1993). A child, like many adults, can be expected to have difficulty discussing sexual matters in the open.

If the child witness is competent for direct examination at trial, she will remain so even if she cannot answer questions under cross-examination. *State v. Guerin*, 63 Wn. App. 117, 122-123, 816 P.2d 1249 (1991). In *Guerin*, the child victim testified about her father touching her inside her underwear. She was also told she would get a spanking if she told. *Id.* The court held that those statements established her independent recollection of the crime and her inability to answer defense questions could be attributed to other factors. *Id.* at 123.

In the present case, the defendant argues that the court erred in finding K.C.-J. competent to testify because she gave two versions of the “truth” and because the inconsistencies in her testimony call into question her ability to form and recollect memory. Brief of Appellant 20. The record shows otherwise.

With respect to defendant's first argument about the "truth", the first *Allen* factor only requires that the child have "an understanding of the obligation to speak the truth on the witness stand[.]" *Allen*, 70 Wn.2d at 692. Implicit in this requirement is the notion that the child has some understanding of what the truth is, but this does not mean that the child must be able to define "truth," or parse out the differences between truth and lie. See, e.g., *State v. Sims*, 4 Wn. App. 188, 480 P.2d 228, review denied, 79 Wn.2d 1002 (1971). "A child's inability to express an understanding of the meaning of truth does not affect his [or her] competency as long as he [or she] possesses a sufficient understanding of truth to insure his [or her] testimony is not the result of fabrication or imagination." *Sims*, 4 Wn. App. at 190. Thus, a child may be competent to testify as long as that child has "expressed an understanding of the duty to speak the truth," even if that child "could [not] give a precise definition of the term." *Id.*

In this case, although there were discrepancies between K.C.-J.'s description of what happened when she described it to the CAC interviewer and what she described in court, the record is clear the K.C.-J. demonstrated that she had a sufficient understanding of what the truth is, and how it differs from a lie "to insure [her] testimony [wa]s not the result of fabrication or imagination." *Sims*, 4 Wn. App. at 190.

During the child hearsay pretrial hearing, the trial court began by inquiring if K.C.-J. knew the difference between the truth and a lie:

THE COURT: I'm Judge Hickman. And I'm going to ask you to take an oath, which means that you're going to promise to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth. Do you know the difference between a lie and telling the truth?

THE WITNESS: Uh-huh.

THE COURT: Is that "yes"?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

II RP 48.

The prosecutor also asked K.J.-C. about whether she knew the difference between the truth and a lie:

Q. Has your mom ever talked with you about telling the truth versus telling a lie?

A. No.

Q. Do you know what's better, to tell the truth or better to tell a lie?

A. Better to tell the truth.

Q. Why is it better to tell the truth?

A. Because you don't want to lie.

Q. Why don't you want to lie?

A. Because that's bad.

Q. If you lie at home, do you get in trouble? A. (Nods head affirmatively.)

Q. Remember, you have to say out loud.

A. Yes.

Q. What kinds of things -- what kind of punishment do you get?

A. Stay in my room and do nothing.

II RP 54-55. This line of questioning about truth versus lies continued:

Q. Now, you said your mom and dad brought you to court today. If I told you that Mickey Mouse brought you to court today, would I be telling you the truth or would I be telling you a lie?

A. The truth.

Q. Did Mickey Mouse bring you to court today?

A. No.

Q. So is it a truth or a lie?

A. A lie.

Q. If I said -- what color is your shirt right there?

A. I would say black.

Q. If I told you that your shirt was orange, not black, am I telling you the truth or am I telling you a lie?

A. A lie.

Q. Why is that a lie?

A. Because my shirt is not orange. It's black.

Q. Do you know why it's better to tell the truth than to tell a lie?

A. So we don't get in trouble.

Q. Do you know what a promise is?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. If I promise to do something, am I supposed to do that thing?

A. Yes.

Q. And so can you promise me that you're going to tell the truth today?

A. Yes.

II RP 56-57

During this hearing, K.J.C.'s mother was also asked whether K.J.-

C. knew the difference between the truth and a lie:

Q. Have you ever sat down with [K.C.-J] and talked with her about the difference between a truth and a lie?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you punish her if you catch her lying?

A. Yes.

Q. How do you punish her?

A. I'll take things away. No games, no TV.

Q. Aside from typical kid stuff, is [K.C.-J.] typically a truthful person?

A. Yes.

II RP 75.

Before trial, the court briefly went through telling the truth with K.C.-J. again. III RP 150-151.

Both at the pretrial hearing and during trial, K.C.-J expressed “an understanding of the obligation to speak the truth on the witness stand[,]” *Allen*, 70 Wn.2d at 692.

Defendant next argues that K.C.-J.’s inconsistency points to a lack of competency. While there were inconsistencies, the fact that there may be inconsistencies and contradictions in a child’s testimony goes only to the weight of a child’s testimony, not to its admissibility. *State v. Woodward*, 32 Wn. App. 204, 208, 646 P.2d 135 (1982). The child may still be found competent even where there are inconsistencies. *State v. Stange*, 53 Wn. App. 638, 769 P.2d 873 (1989); *State v. McKinney*, 50 Wn. App. 56, 747 P.2d 1113 (1987).

Additionally, the question is not whether the child is consistent about details of the incident, but whether the child has the general mental capacity to receive an accurate impression of it and a memory sufficient to retain it:

Thus, Division One of this Court has held that a trial court need not examine a child witness regarding the particular issues and facts of the case to determine competency. In

fact,... a witness's memory and perception might be better tested against objective facts known to the court, rather than disputed facts and events in the case itself. So long as the witness demonstrates by her answers to the court an ability to receive just impressions of and accurately relate events which occurred at least contemporaneously with the incidents at issue, the court may infer that the witness is likewise competent to testify regarding those incidents as well.

State v. Przybylski, 48 Wn. App. 661, 665, 739 P.2d 1203 (1987).

In this case, K.C.-J. testified about currently being in kindergarten, II RP 53, about previously being in preschool, II RP 54, about where she currently lives, II RP 57-58, and about where she previously lived when she lived with defendant, including other people who lived with them, II RP 59-61. Therefore, K.C.-J. “demonstrate[d] by her answers to the court an ability to receive just impressions of and accurately relate events which occurred at least contemporaneously with the incidents at issue.” and the court could have properly “infer[red] that [she] is likewise competent to testify regarding those incidents [at issue] as well.” *Przybylski*, 48 Wn. App. at 665.

All five *Allen* factors were satisfied. Because they were, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding K.C.-J. competent to testify, *see Allen*, 70 Wn.2d at 692, and its decision to do so should be affirmed.

- b. Defendant did not object to the trial court's determination that K.C.-J.'s out of court statements were admissible. Even if he had, the court's determination was correct and not an abuse of discretion.
 - i. **Defendant waived his objection to K.C.-J.'s out of court statements by failing to object at trial.**

As argued above, an appellate court generally will not consider a claimed error that was not raised in the trial court. *See* RAP 2.5(a). In *State v. Fisher*, 43 Wn. App. 75, 715 P.2d 530, *reversed on other grounds*, 108 Wn.2d 419, 739 P.2d 683 (1987), the Court determined that because no objection was raised to the child hearsay in the trial court, and because no manifest constitutional right was involved as the child also testified, the issue was not preserved for appeal. *Fisher*, at 78-79, 715 P.2d 530. *See also State v. Leavitt*, 49 Wn. App. 348, 743 P.2d 270 (1987).

Here, the trial court held a pretrial hearing regarding child hearsay. K.C.-J. testified and this hearing. With regard to child hearsay, defense counsel explained:

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